1977

# Bills' Roofing, Inc. v. Salt Lake City School District : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF KIND OF CASE

This is an action brought by plaintiff roofing company against the defendant school district based upon an alleged breach of contract concerning the roofing of a local high school.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

A trial was held before the Honorable Ernest F. Baldwin, Jr., District Judge of the Third Judicial District. The case was submitted to the jury on special interrogatories and a judgment was subsequently entered in favor of plaintiff in the approximate sum of \$14,000.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant-appellant seeks a reversal of the trial court judgment and an order by this Court finding in favor of defendant as a matter of law. In the alternative defendant seeks

a new trial.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is an action commenced by plaintiff against the Salt Lake City School District for defendant's alleged breach of contract concerning a roofing project to be performed on Highland High School, Salt Lake City, Utah.

Plaintiff initiated its complaint against defendant on February 5, 1975 alleging that defendant wrongfully removed the plaintiff from the Highland High School roofing project. Plaintiff sought damages in the amount of \$19,765. (R., pp. 2-4).

Defendant answered plaintiff's complaint and alleged that plaintiff failed to complete the project in compliance with the agreements, standards and specifications of the project and failed to perform in an expeditious and workmanlike manner (R., pp. 14-16).

On April 27 plaintiff responded to defendant's request for admissions and at that time stated that the original written contract entered into between the parties had been modified by an oral agreement. (R., p. 40).

Trial was commenced before a jury on May 9, 1977 with Honorable Ernest F. Baldwin, Jr. presiding. Much of the testimony and many of the exhibits were undisputed. The following is a synopsis of the undisputed facts and evidence presented:

at trial.

On June 17, 1974 the Salt Lake City School District sent to plaintiff roofing company a request to bid for several school buildings in the Salt Lake City District. (Exhibit 1-P). Subsequently, plaintiff submitted its bid for the Ensign School, Highland High School, and Uintah School. (Exhibit 6-P). On July 9, 1974 plaintiff was awarded the contract and purchase orders were accordingly issued. (Exhibit 7-P, 8-P, 9-P).

At the time of the bid and at the time of the subsequent acceptance the district had issued "basic specifications for re-roofing" concerning the standards to be utilized by the roofing contractor during the projects. (Exhibit 3-P). Paragraph 11 of the specifications stated:

Protection of building from water damage:  
During all stages of the project, care must be exercised to prevent damage to rooms and corridors below and the building proper. No roofing material shall be applied over damp felts. At the end of each working day the roof shall be sealed to prevent water damage to the building and its contents.

Plaintiff did not receive authorization to proceed on the project until August 19, 1974 when it was decided by the Board of Education that insulation would not be purchased and added at the time the roofing job was performed. A letter was sent to plaintiff advising it to proceed as originally

planned. (Exhibit 11-P; Tr., p. 12).

Plaintiff began working on the project on a small lower area of the building. (Tr., p. 13). Subsequently, in October of 1974 it was decided that additional insulation should be replaced and the Board of Education authorized the expenditure of additional money for this insulation. An additional \$21,804 was thereby added to the original contract of \$29,800, making the total cost of the project \$51,604. (Exhibit 13-P; Tr., p. 15).

Walter A. Jensen, the Board's inspector, checked on the progress of the project almost every day. (Tr., p. 77). On October 17, 1974 Jensen had a conversation with several of plaintiff's employees concerning the procedure which plaintiff wished to utilize. (Tr., pp. 77, 95). At that time Ken Billings informed Mr. Jensen that he wished to tear off a large area of the roof rather than working on small portions each day for the purpose of speeding up the project. He informed Jensen that he would obtain a large crew from a local church to assist him. (Tr., pp. 82, 96-97). Jensen was informed at that time that visqueen plastic would be kept on hand to cover the area. (Tr., p. 97). For the next five days the crews proceeded to tear off the old roofing material until approximately 44 squares (each square is 100 square feet) had been removed. (Tr., p. 96).

Plaintiff's own witnesses testified that the roof was not "sealed" at the time the first rainstorm occurred. Russel Bills, brother of the owner Ken Bills, testified that prior to the storm the roof was left wide open. (Tr., p. 99). He further testified that on the morning of the storm the roof was covered with visqueen but was not sealed. (Tr., p. 103). Scott Bruderer, an employee of plaintiff, testified that the roof was not sealed but could have been with tar and paper prior to the rainstorm but such procedure would have taken time and would have been expensive. (Tr., p. 111).

Donald Bills, brother of Ken Bills, testified that visqueen was not water tight and could not be used to seal the roof. Finally, Kenneth Bills, the president of the plaintiff roofing company testified that three days prior to the first rainstorm the roof was not sealed and that rain was subsequently able to get through the visqueen. (Tr., pp. 196-197).

Carl Paulsen, a contractor involved in the roofing business since 1955, testified in the roofing business the word "seal" means to join the new roof to the old roof in such a manner that it is absolutely water-tight. He further stated that it was the custom of all builders in the industry to seal the work as it was being done. (Tr., pp. 299-300).

On the night of October 20 one of plaintiff's employees noticed a light rain beginning and contacted other employees

of plaintiff who then converged upon the school roof and sealed the visqueen plastic over the exposed areas. (Tr., p. 107). The next morning, October 21, 1974, water had penetrated through the visqueen plastic and was flooding into the third story school rooms. (Tr., pp. 108, 226). Ceiling tiles were soaked and falling off the ceiling, wood paneling was wet and buckled and seal brick was peeling. (Tr., p. 212). The water continued to leak into the classrooms for several days thereafter. (Tr., p. 236). Throughout the next two weeks it frequently rained and on several occasions water leaked heavily into the school building. (Tr., pp. 46-47, 227). Some of the classrooms were moved to other areas of the building for a two-week period. (Tr., p. 238).

At various times after the initial October 21 leakage employees of plaintiff worked upon the roof. On November 5, 1974 a letter was sent by Mr. Bruce Ririe to plaintiff outlining the school district's dissatisfaction with plaintiff's work and informing plaintiff that the contract would be cancelled "unless the new roof is installed where the old was removed off and the roof leaks caused by your crews repaired by Saturday, November 9, 1974 so there is no further water damage inside the building". (Exhibit 19-P). The roof was finally sealed on November 11 but was not completed until the first week in December.

On approximately the 10th of November Mr. Ririe informed Kenneth Bills that he was terminating the contract but that he would pay them for everything that had already been done including all materials on the job. (Tr., p. 172). On November 25, 1974 plaintiff sent a bill to defendant school board requesting a balance due of \$18,916.00. (Exhibit 22-P). Defendant responded to this letter with his own calculations showing a balance to be paid of \$9,378.00. (Exhibit 26-P).

Several areas of dispute arose in the lawsuit. One of these areas concerns the number of square feet actually worked upon by the plaintiff and the cost involved in the project. Because appellant is not raising the determination of damages as error testimony concerning damages will be omitted.

The main issue in dispute was whether the conduct of defendant's agents waived the requirement of sealing the roof.

It was plaintiff's theory throughout the trial that the school board's building inspector and director of buildings and grounds were aware that an extremely large amount of the roof would be uncovered at a time but agreed to the procedure in order to expedite the project. Russell Bills stated that he informed Mr. Jensen, the defendant inspector, of the proposed plan and that Jensen "told us that it would be all right to tear it off and to go ahead without covering it each night". Bills told Jensen that visqueen would be available if neces-

sary to cover the area. (Tr., p. 97). Donald Bills also stated that Jensen agreed that because of the slowness in normal procedures it would be all right to tear out the large area as long as there was material to cover the roof available (Tr., p. 116).

Ken Bills stated that around the 6th or 7th of October he visited Mr. Ririe in his office and told him that the work would be a lot faster if large sections could be torn off and reroofed as a whole. (Tr., p. 151). Bills stated that Ririe told him that if the visqueen was on the project that the plan would be all right. (Tr., p. 164).

Defendant's witnesses testified quite differently. Mr. Ririe testified that he never authorized his inspector, Mr. Jensen, to waive the requirement of sealing the roof and that no one under his position had any authority to waive this provision. He further stated that any waiver of a departmental provision issued by the Board of Education would have to come through him personally and that no such waiver was ever received. (Tr., pp. 44-45).

Mr. Ririe could not recall ever talking to Ken Bills about the proposed mass assault on the building and stated that the first time he heard about the project and the use of visqueen was when his inspector told him that he was opposed to using it. This occurred around the 18th or 19th of October. (Tr., p. 246).

He further testified that he was skeptical about the use of visqueen and told Jensen to inform plaintiff that a better solution had to be found since he did not think it could be sealed effectively. He told Jensen to inform the contractor that the building had to be protected. (Tr., pp. 247-249). He stated that he had the power to modify the type of material and dates of completion but could not modify increase in prices or protecting of the buildings. (Tr., p. 250).

Walter A. Jensen, supervising inspector of the maintenance of the defendant school district, testified that he was told by Mr. Bills of the proposed plan to rip off a large area of the roof in order to expedite the project. He testified as follows:

So I said, well, that the responsibility is yours, in effect not the exact conversation, I said you can't open that much roof off and leave it open, you've got to seal it, you've got to cover it and in our discussion I proposed it first that he put on two plys of asphalt and membrane to seal it and both of us were aware that that was a costly procedure to do and he said, well, we are insured. I said I don't want any hassle with insurance companies or anyone else, I don't want any water getting through the roof. (Tr., p. 82).

Jensen further told Bills that the use of visqueen would be risky because any perforation in the plastic would cause a

leak and additionally the wind was powerful in that area and could easily blow it off. Finally, he suggested that Bills contact other roofers in the area as to what procedure to use. Jensen testified that he thought Bills' suggestion was merely a proposal that would be examined and submitted to Mr. Ririe before it was actually undertaken. (Tr., p. 84). He did not again see Ken Bills until after the storm. (Tr., p. 84).

Subsequently on the 17th of October he had a discussion with Don Bills concerning the open roof. Bills told him that a storm was forecast for Tuesday and Jensen told Bills he had better get it sealed up. Jensen stated that he gave him no instructions because it was the contractor's responsibility and how he accomplished it was his business as long as he met the requirement of keeping the building safe. (Tr., p. 273).

Ken Bills substantiated this statement and agreed that he was never told by anyone that he was not responsible for preventing water from entering the building. (Tr., p. 192).

Finally, Russell Bills testified that he considered it his responsibility to prevent the elements from getting into a building and that it was a necessary workmanlike procedure to protect a building. (Tr., p. 101).

In the beginning of the trial plaintiff's attorney urged that conversations with the building inspector and Mr. Ririe

were admissible because they went to a modification of the written contract. Defendant's counsel had previously objected that such conversations were irrelevant in that they violated the parol evidence rule and attempted to modify the contract. (e.g. Tr., p. 165). The trial court rejected this modification theory. (Tr., pp. 305-306). In a discussion by the Court with counsel the first concept of waiver was suggested by the Judge. (Tr., pp. 159-160). Throughout the proceeding defendant's counsel argued that there was no notice given to defendant of any waiver theory prior to the middle of the trial. (Tr., pp. 306, 324).

Before submission of the case to the jury defendant moved for a directed verdict on the grounds that plaintiff's failure to seal the roof and the subsequent delay was a material breach of contract as a matter of law. (Tr., p. 307). The Court took the motion under advisement. (Tr., p. 314).

Special interrogatories were submitted to the jury of which the first question asked the following:

Did the actions of the plaintiff in late October and early November of 1974, in removing a portion of the roofing on Highland High School, and the manner in which it was left, constitute a material breach of the contract between plaintiff and defendant?

The jury answered "no". (R., p. 130).

A judgment was entered by the trial court pursuant to

the verdict on May 23, 1977 together with the following additional finding:

In addition to findings of the jury as above set forth, the Court made the following findings based upon the undisputed evidence at trial:

- (1) The actions of the defendant in late October and early November of 1974, in removing plaintiff from the Highland High School project and thus preventing it from completing the contract, constituted a breach of the contract between plaintiff and defendant. (Tr. pp. 140-141).

On June 22, 1977 the trial court denied defendant's motion for directed verdict, for a judgment notwithstanding the verdict and for a new trial. (R., p. 148).

On July 21, 1977 this appeal was filed. (R., p. 152).

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO RULE AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT PLAINTIFF BREACHED ITS CONTRACT WITH DEFENDANT.

The development of this lawsuit can be simply stated: Plaintiff sued defendant for breach of contract alleging defendant had wrongfully terminated plaintiff from the roofing project and asked damages for the profits it would have received had the contract been completed.

Defendant school district answered this claim by alleging that it was justified in terminating the contract because:

of the breach committed by plaintiff in its failure to properly seal the roof as required by the specific contractual provision and its subsequent failure to protect the building as was also required by the contract.

Finally, plaintiff attempted to counter this defense on two theories. In the beginning of the trial, plaintiff urged that the contract had been orally modified by the actions of the defendant's agents. After this theory was rejected by the trial court a new theory was suggested by the court to plaintiff's counsel that the contractual provisions regarding sealing and protection of the building had been "waived" by the defendant and therefore it was unable to claim a breach under the sealing provision of the original contract.

As to the question of whether defendant breached its contract by termination the trial court found that based upon undisputed evidence at trial the termination of plaintiff roofing company constituted a breach of the contract. This conclusion of law by the trial court was correct since a repudiation is necessarily a breach of contract.

However, if plaintiff had materially breached its contract by failing to seal the roof then the defendant school district was discharged from performing its obligation under the contract and its breach was therefore excused. Restatement of Contracts, §397, p. 750.

Despite repeated assertions by defendant that this second question of plaintiff's breach could be decided by the court as a matter of law the issue was submitted to the jury by special interrogatories. (R., p. 130). The trial court erred in submitting this question to the jury since the facts relied upon by defendant to justify plaintiff's breach were equally undisputed as in the instance of facts relied upon for defendant's breach. The only question before the trial court was whether the provision of the contract requiring sealing of the roof and protection of the building had been violated. This was clearly a question of law before the court and it was therefore error to submit this legal question to the jury.

The rule delineating the role of a judge and jury has been stated as follows:

The question of what facts will constitute a breach of contract is one of law to be determined by the court, but whether such facts have occurred is ordinarily a question of fact to be determined by the jury. Thus, when the facts are undisputed, the question whether there has been a performance or a breach of the contract is one of law for the court. 17A C.J.S., Contracts, §630, p. 1266. (Emphasis added).

This Court in Avgikos v. Lowry, 179 P.988 (Utah, 1919) applied this rule in a case involving the question of whether a supplier had substantially complied with the quantity of

goods agreed to in a contract. This court stated:

Where the facts are undisputed, the question of whether or not they constitute a performance or a breach of the contract is one of law for the court. Id. at 990.

This Court concluded, "It was error to submit the question to the jury, on the allegations and the facts as they appear, as to whether there had been a compliance with the contract." Id. at 990.

It is a well-settled rule of construction that where the terms of the contract are not in dispute, the language is clear and unambiguous, and the facts and circumstances are not disputed, construction of the contract is a question of law and the question of whether the facts constitute performance under the contract is also a question of law for the court. Brown-Crummer Inv. Co. v. Koss Const. Co., 4 F.2d 682 (8th Cir. 1925).

It is universally held to be error to submit the construction of a written contract to a jury. Hewitt v. Buchanan, 4 S.W.2d 169 (Ct. Civ. App. Tex. 1927).

The standard of appellate review in a case such as this has been stated by the court of appeals of Arizona in Kammert Bros. Enterprises v. Tanque Verde Praza Co., 420 P.2d 592 (Ariz. App. 1966). The court stated:

In a breach of contract case, the burden of proof is on the plaintiff to plead and prove a breach. The question of whether a contract has been breached is ordinarily a question for the jury, but, if the undis-

puted material facts in the case, together with evidence taken most favorably to support the judgment below established that a judgment other than that rendered below is mandated by applicable law, the appellate court should set aside the lower court's judgment and enter the appropriate judgment. Id. at 603.

In the instant case the contractual provision upon which defendant school district relied in its repudiation of the contract is clear and undisputed. This provision stated:

In all stages of the project, care must be exercised to prevent damage to rooms and corridors below and the building proper. No roofing material shall be applied over damp felts. At the end of each working day, the roof shall be sealed to prevent water damage to the building and its contents. (Ex. 3-P). (Emphasis added).

There is no ambiguity or doubt that the word "seal" means that the roof was required to be watertight. The meaning of plain and ordinary words in common use is a question of law for the court. 17A C.J.S., Contracts, §620, p. 1259. Employees of the plaintiff admitted throughout the trial that the roof was not sealed at the time of the rainstorms and that 44 squares which consisted of 4,400 square feet were left "unsealed". (pp. 99, 103, 111, 124, 196).

Thus as a matter of law plaintiff breached its contract by failing to seal this large area and exposing the building to water damage. In addition, it is undisputed that this condition continued for over two weeks with constant flooding.

the school premises.

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