1978

Bills' Roofing, Inc. v. Salt Lake City School District : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

the contract." This statement is an outright fabrication of what the Defendant-Appellant's Answer really was. If the Court will read said Answer, it will find that there is no allegation of a breach of contract by Defendant for failure to properly seal the roof. Defendant-Appellant simply denies the claims of breach alleged by Plaintiff-Respondent and then by affirmative defense alleges "that Plaintiff failed to perform work requested by Defendant in a professional, workmanlike and expert manner."

Defendant-Appellant then bases its entire argument on the fact that it had alleged in its Answer that Plaintiff breached the contract. The truth of the matter is that Defendant-Appellant did not raise the issue of breach by reason of failing to properly seal the roof until trial. In response to such allegation at trial, Plaintiff-Respondent then alleged that there was no breach relative to the failure to seal because Defendant-Appellant had waived the provision of the contract relating thereto (para. 11). Defendant-Appellant then argued that it had been surprised because Plaintiff-Respondent did not allege waiver in its Complaint.

Plaintiff-Respondent had no obligation to plead waiver since its affirmative defense was only in response to Defendant-Appellant's claim at trial that Plaintiff-Respondent breached the contract. Even if Defendant-Appellant had claimed a breach of contract in its Answer, there is no obligation under the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure for Plaintiff-Respondent to file an affirmative pleading to an Answer. Further argument on this matter is treated later in this Brief.

Defendant-Appellant then argues that the Court should have decided the question of breach as a matter of law based on what Defendant-Appellant

alleges were undisputed facts. A simple reading of the Statement of Facts of Appellant and Respondent clearly establishes that the facts were not undisputed.

In the face of disputed facts, the question of Plaintiff's breach was a question of fact rightly submitted to the jury. The breach of contract that Defendant claims should have been determined as a matter of law by the trial Court was Plaintiff's failure to seal the roof at the end of each working day as required by paragraph 11 of the contract (Appellant's Brief p. 14). However, the breach claimed occurred after discussions between Defendant-Appellant's director of buildings and grounds, Bruce Ririe, and its inspector on the job, Walter Jensen, and the Bills brothers as set forth in the Statement of Facts. Based on those discussions, it is clear that the jury could have found, as they did, that paragraph 11 had been waived. That being true, there was no breach at all.

In 17 Am Jur 2d Contracts, §390, the author states the general law as follows:

"Strict and full performance of a contract by one party may be waived by the other party, in which case there is, to the extent of the waiver, no right to damages for the failure to perform strictly or fully. This is in accord with the elementary principle that either party to a contract may waive any of the provisions made for his benefit. . . . A defense that work was not properly done may also be waived, and there may be a mutual estoppel, by waiver, as to the effect of a default.

* * * *

". . . contract provisions may be waived expressly or the waiver thereof may be implied from the acts of the parties. Where one entitled to performance is present to receive performance, whatever is not exacted is considered as waived, for if objection had been made on the ground of those matters in which the proposed performance was deficient, these might have been supplied at the time."

The question of waiver, where facts indicate it occurred before an alleged breach, must be determined before the question of breach and not vice versa. The question of breach is entirely dependent upon the question of waiver and would have been incorrectly determined as a matter of law by the trial court in the face of the disputed facts.

In a case cited by Defendant-Appellant, Campbell Bldg. Co. vs. State Road Commission, 70 P2d 857 (Utah 1937) at page 865, the Court is clear that the question of waiver

" . . . is a fact question to be determined by the Court or the jury, as the case may be."

Defendant-Appellant bases its entire first argument on the premise that the facts were undisputed as to Plaintiff's breach. As previously stated there would be no breach if, prior thereto, Defendant-Appellant waived compliance with the provisions of paragraph 11 of the contract. Thus, if the question of waiver is disputed, based on the evidence, that would fortiori put the question of breach in dispute, since it would be disputed whether in fact at the time of the alleged breach there was even a claim of the contract to be breached.

As set forth in the Statement of Facts in this Brief as compared with the Statement of Facts in Defendant-Appellant's Brief, the facts are in dispute as to whether there was a waiver and thus, the trial court rightly submitted the question of breach to the jury to be considered in light of the question of waiver.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY ALLOWED THE JURY TO CONSIDER
AND DECIDE THE ISSUE OF WAIVER WITH THE QUESTION OF BREACH
AND CORRECTLY INSTRUCTED THE JURY.

A. There is no obligation to plead waiver in Response to an Answer because no responsive pleading is necessary or required.

Appellant's contention is that the issue of waiver was improperly raised well after the trial was underway and without prior notice to Defendant in a pleading.

The rule of pleading affirmative defenses comes from Rule 8(c) U.R.C.P., which states:

"In a pleading to a preceding pleading, a party shall set forth affirmatively. . . any . . . affirmative defenses."
(Emphasis added)

Waiver is one affirmative defense listed. Plaintiff-Respondent filed a Complaint and alleged therein that Defendant-Respondent had breached the contract by unlawfully terminating Plaintiff-Respondent as a result of which damages were suffered. Defendant-Respondent answered by denying such allegations and pleading an affirmative defense that the work was not done in a "professional, workmanlike and expeditious manner". There was no affirmative defense raised that Plaintiff-Respondent breached its contract. At trial, for the first time, Defendant-Appellant claimed that Plaintiff-Respondent breached the contract. In response to such claim of Defendant-Appellant at trial, Plaintiff-Respondent claimed that it did not breach the contract because Defendant-Respondent had waived the provision of the contract allegedly breached (paragraph 11) and was thus estopped to rely on it.

It was then that Defendant-Appellant claimed Plaintiff-Respondent could not rely on waiver because it had not plead it in its Complaint. This is a ridiculous argument because Plaintiff was under no obligation to plead waiver in its Complaint. Its Complaint was based on Defendant-

Appellant's breach of contract, not waiver. Waiver is a defense raised to Defendant-Appellant's claim that Plaintiff-Respondent breached its contract.

Even if Defendant-Appellant claimed a breach of contract in its Answer, Plaintiff-Respondent had no obligation to respond to such allegation because there is no obligation under the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure to file a response to an Answer.

If Defendant-Appellant had filed a Counterclaim alleging breach of contract, then Plaintiff-Respondent would have been obligated to file a Reply and to allege therein any affirmative defenses, such as waiver or estoppel, which it may have had to the allegations of the Counterclaim. However, in this case no Counterclaim was filed.

In 28 Am Jur2d §169, under Estoppel and Waiver, the author states that

"One well-settled exception to the rule requiring a waiver to be pleaded specially is when a party has no opportunity to plead a waiver. In such case, evidence of the waiver may be given at the trial with the same conclusive effect as if it had been pleaded specially as a waiver."

See also 120 ALR 8 at page 76, which collects the cases that support this rule of law which are too numerous to cite here.

Appellant cites Cheney vs. Rucker, 381 P2d 86 (Utah 1963) as authority. In this case, the Defendant failed to plead a subsequent defense as an affirmative defense and Plaintiff claimed he should not have been permitted to rely on it. The Defendant's Answer was the opportunity to plead the affirmative defense which he failed to do. In spite of this failure, the Court stated that the Rules of Civil Procedure

". . . must all be looked to in the light of their even more fundamental purpose of liberalizing both pleading and procedure to the end that the parties are afforded the privilege of presenting whatever legitimate contentions they have pertaining to their dispute." 381 P2d 86, at 91.

The Court thereupon excused Defendant's failure and affirmed the lower court judgment in his favor.

A case more similar to the case at bar is Mabee vs. Continental Casualty Company, 219 P. 598 (Idaho 1923) where Defendant contended that the evidence of waiver was not admissible in the absence of an allegation of waiver in the Plaintiff's Complaint. It was the Appellant-Defendant who first alleged a contract provision and its breach as an affirmative defense. As in Utah's system of pleading, no response to Appellant's allegation was required in Idaho. The Court stated:

"The tender of this issue by the affirmative Answer joined the issue, and the Respondent, under the issue so joined, was entitled to avail herself of all defenses which she could command, whether they consisted of matters of mere denial or admitted the facts as pleaded and sought to avoid the same by reason of waiver, estoppel or other legal reason." 219 P 598, at 602.

Citing McKune vs. Continental Casualty Company, 154 P 990 (Idaho 1915), the Court repeated:

"Under these facts, we think that it would be the height of technicality to refuse to consider the question of waiver." 219 P 598 at 602.

It is clear from the authority cited that Plaintiff-Respondent had every right to rely on waiver as a defense to Defendant-Appellant's claim that it had breached the contract.

B. The Court correctly submitted the question of breach to the jury on special verdict.

The Court determined that it would be best to submit this to the jury on a special verdict and the following question was asked relative to breach of contract:

"Did the actions of the Plaintiff in late October and early November of 1974, in removing a portion of the roofing on Highland High School, and the manner in which it was left, constitute a material breach of the contract between Plaintiff and Defendant?"

"Answer: Yes _____ No _____"

The Court properly instructed the jury as to what constitutes a "material" breach of contract and also correctly instructed the jury that a default in performance of the contract may be "waived." The Court instructed the jury as to what would constitute a waiver of a breach of contract.

It is submitted that the Court acted properly with respect to the special verdict question and the instructions.

C. There was sufficient evidence to allow the jury to decide whether Defendant's agents had the necessary authority to waive compliance with the provisions of paragraph 11 of the contract.

Defendant-Appellant argues that it must be determined whether Walter Jensen, Defendant's inspector at the building site, or Bruce [unclear] Defendant's director of building and grounds, had authority or were estopped to deny authority to waive strict performance with paragraph 11 of the contract.

1. Defendant-Respondent is estopped to deny its agents authority.

In 28 Am Jur2d §155, under Estoppel and Waiver, the authority

"Rights or privileges may be waived by the person for whose benefit they were intended, or by his duly authorized agent."

In 3 Am Jur2d §76, under Agency, the author states:

"It is a general principle of the law of agency, running through all contracts made by agents with third parties, that the principals are bound by the acts of their agents which fall within the apparent scope of the authority of the agents, and that the principals will not be permitted to deny the authority of their agents against innocent third parties who have dealt with those agents in good faith." Harrison vs. Auto Securities Co., 257 P 677 (Utah 1927) at 679.

Mr. Ririe, in his direct examination by Defendant-Appellant's attorney, said he had authority to modify the specifications on a limited basis for types of materials, completion dates, prices, but not paragraph 11. (Tr 250). Yet, earlier, he admitted that Mr. Jensen had, according to his instructions, told Plaintiff they were cancelling out part of the original contract and not to complete a portion of another section of the roof. (Tr 33-34, 56) In addition, Mr. Ririe had authority to grant approval of Mr. Bills' bid for additional work which increased the contract from \$29,800 to \$51,604. (Exhibit 13-P; T 15)

Mr. Ririe and Mr. Jensen both testified that Mr. Jensen was on the jobsite everyday just prior to the alleged breach with the responsibility and authority to enforce the contract and be sure all provisions were complied with. (Tr 55, 269-270)

About ten days prior to the alleged breach, Ken Bills, president of Plaintiff company, met with Mr. Ririe in his office and discussed the possibility of tearing up a large section of the roof to speed up the re-roofing to attempt its completion before winter as Mr. Ririe expressed a desire to have done. He explained that they wouldn't be able to cover it

each day and Mr. Ririe said that was ok if they had some visqueen available for a storm. (Tr 164) Mr. Ririe denies this. (Tr 246)

Five or six days prior to the alleged breach, Mr. Jensen called the Bills brothers up on the roof that Plaintiff was repairing, and discussed the same proposal. (Tr 82, 271-272) Mr. Jensen thought "It was good news. They were making very slow progress at this stage." (Tr 82) It is clear from the testimony that Mr. Jensen did not object. (Tr 82, 165, 271-272, 117-118) The roof remained open for at least five days. Mr. Jensen still did not object. In fact, he gave his tacit approval of the procedure being followed.

Even if Mr. Ririe or Mr. Jensen had no express or actual authority to waive strict compliance with paragraph 11, all of their actions and conversations with Plaintiff-Respondent would have led Plaintiff-Respondent to reasonably and honestly believe that they had such authority.

Appellant cites Campbell Bldg. Co. vs. State Road Commission, supra, in an attempt to show that Plaintiff-Respondent's belief in Defendant's agent's authority was unreasonable. Perhaps it may have been so under the facts of the Campbell case, wherein the authority of the agent was clearly spelled out in the contract and well known to the contractor. The provision in the contract claimed to have been waived was the requirement of written purchase orders, going to the heart of the engineer's authority. But, these are not the facts of this case. Nothing in the specifications or contract spelled out Mr. Ririe's or Mr. Jensen's authority and Plaintiff-Respondent had no notice of any limitations to it, nor of anyone else who would have more authority than Mr. Ririe or Mr. Jensen.

In light of these facts, justice would require Defendant to

be estopped from denying Mr. Ririe's or Mr. Jensen's authority to waive paragraph 11.

2. The issue of waiver was properly submitted to the jury.

Assuming the jury determined that Mr. Jensen and/or Mr. Ririe either had actual authority, apparent authority, or were estopped from denying authority, it could then determine whether these agents waived paragraph 11.

A waiver, according to the generally accepted definition, is the voluntary and intentional relinquishment of a known right. 28 Am Jur2d §154, Estoppel and Waiver. Brigham Young University vs. Industrial Commission of Utah, 279 P 889 (Utah 1929).

The testimony is in conflict as to the conversation between Ken Bills and Mr. Ririe in his office about ten days prior to the alleged breach, (Tr 164, 246) but is not in dispute as to the occurrence of the conversation between Mr. Jensen, Ken Bills and Russell Bills on the roof of the building less than a week before the alleged breach. There may, however, be some conflict as to the conclusion reached at the end of that conversation as far as Mr. Jensen was concerned, but not as far as the Billses were concerned. Mr. Jensen claimed his intention was to check with Mr. Ririe before going ahead with the proposal, although he never objected to it. (Tr 84) The Billses understood they were to go ahead with the proposal as long as there was visqueen on hand to cover the roof if it rained. (Tr 165) It is disputed whether two days later Mr. Jensen told Ken Bills to get the roof sealed up. Mr. Jensen said he did. (Tr 273) Ken Bills said he didn't. (Tr 166) These are all facts going directly to

the issue of whether or not Defendant's right to have the roof sealed day was waived. In the face of such disputed facts, it was proper for trial court to submit the issue to the jury. Campbell Bldg. Co. vs. Road Commission, supra.

D. The instruction to the jury concerning waiver was proper.

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